# "BABEŞ-BOLYAI" UNIVERSITY, CLUJ-NAPOCA FACULTY OF ORTHODOX THEOLOGY

# Reformation and Counter-Reformation in Habsburg Monarchy in the Sixteenth Century

(Abstract)

Coordinator:

Fr. Prof. PhD. IOAN VASILE LEB

Postgraduate: **Bogdan Ivanov** 

Cluj-Napoca 2011

#### **Contents**

# List of abbreviations for journals and reference works

# Argumentation

# **Chapter I: Introduction**

- I.1. Reference material
- I.2. Current status of research and new historiographical trends
- I.3. A terminological problem

### **Chapter II: Historical paradox of the Habsburgs**

- II.1. Habsburg Empire or Habsburg Monarchy?
- II.2. Family and Dynasty in front of the State
- II.3. Habsburgs and the German world. A problematic relationship
- II. 4. Monarchy and the two threats of the sixteenth century

#### **Chapter III: Reformation in the Habsburg world**

- III. 1. Humanist prelude and the German world expectations
- III. 2. Reform in the Habsburg hereditary provinces
- III.3. Reform in Upper and Lower Austria- a dispute between sovereign and princes
- III.4. University concerns in the Reform
- III.5. Printed book, the great fear of the Habsburgs
- III.6. Tirol and the peasant's sympathy for Anabaptists
- III.7. Habsburgs and border Reform: Styria, Carinthia, Carniola

# **Chapter IV:** Habsburgs and the Apostolic Kingdom of Hungary

- IV.1. The prehistory relations between the Habsburgs and Hungarian
- IV.2. Habsburgs, Hungarian and Ottomans in search for peace
- IV.3. Humanist Hungary and the decline of the Catholicism
- IV.4. The Old Apostolic Kingdom and the glorious Reform
- IV.5. Queen Mary and the Hungarian Reform

# Chapter V: Habsburgs and the Holy Wenceslaus Crown

- V.1. Reformation in Bohemia
- V.1.1. Bohemia, a country favorable for religious diversity
- V.1.2. From dualism to religious pluralism
- V.1.3. Ferdinand I's religious policy, between the theology of moderation and freedom of belief
  - V. 1. 4. Confessio Bohemica and the road to religious consensus
  - V. 2. Jesuits and Catholic revival in Bohemia
  - V. 3. The casual balance of the Sixteenth Century

# Chapter VI: Peace from Augsburg and the beginnings of the Counter-Reformation

- VI.1. The long road to the Reform peace
- VI.2. A religious peace or a religious truce?
- VI.3. The idea of religious tolerance and national denomination
- VI.4. Habsburg Monarchy during the second half of XVI century among protestant peace and Counter-Reformation
  - VI.4.1. The belated victory of the Austrian Counter-Reformation
  - VI.4.2. The highlight of the Counter-Reformation. Styrian file
  - VI.4.3. Hungarian Catholicism between lost cause and Counter-Reformation
  - VI.4.4. Archbishop Miklós Oláh and Tridentine reforms
  - VI.4.5. The fragile fight for faith of the Hungarian Catholic hierarchy
  - VI.4.6. The end of the Hungarian Sixteenth Century Counter-Reformation

#### Chapter VII: Habsburg political theology

- VII.1. Habsburgs and the Church
- VII.2. Habsburgs and the Tridentine theology

VII.2.1 Charles V and the way to the Council of Trent

VII.3. Habsburgs and the moderation theology

VII.4. Habsburgs and Pietas austriaca

Conclusions Bibliography

Appendices. Documents and illustrations

**Keywords:** Habsburgs, monarchy, empire, early modern Europe, Reformation, Counter-Reformation, Catholic Reformation, Confessionalization, the Conciliarism, Trident, council, censorship, political theology, Pietas Austriaca, eucharist, celibacy, jesuit.

#### **ARGUMENTATION**

To the more numerous statements on the existence of common political destiny of the European countries in recent decades should correspond an historical reflection on the first supranational projects and the member states of early modern Europe. Such an approach is over the rigorous historical interest and consists a necessary investigation of the past for a mature assumption on the future. Essentially, currently facing with the visible limits of multiculturalism, a foray in history may help to understand the deep roots of religious and political plurality of our continent. In this historical and current horizon of interest, Habsburgs and thei monarchy has a privileged place, the fact that they applied in history one of the most abiding and interesting supranational political projects, whose trademark has been since his beginnings, the ethnic and religious diversity. This political project was dominated by a deeply inclusive and universalist vision of the Habsburgs, but also by many local particularities, who created so many tensions and difficulties, sometimes insurmountable.

A major milestone in the history project of the Habsburgs is the Reformation and Counter-Reformation, two great spiritual events that transformed all early modern Europe and in whose ambience was born the Habsburg Monarchy.

Practically, Central European Habsburg Monarchy begun fragile to mark out with the union from 1527 of the hereditary territories of the Kingdom of Hungary and Bohemia, in the person of Ferdinand I of Habsburg. The territorial expansion was going to match a political agenda, Habsburgs were facing the situation to manage a very complicated confessional file, in witch the conflicts between the catholics and the Protestants have increased and threaten their political stability, but also the young monarchy. The Reform was the argument used by the representatives of privileged states in their opposition in front of the sovereign and his projects of state centralization. So, Habsburg's drama was double: to manage the political state affairs and not betray their own conscience. From this perspective requires that the subject is itself a very important reflection about the leader's role, which must choose, between the state interests and his own beliefs.

However, this grants a priority area in studying the history of the Habsburg Monarchy in the Reform century. Approaching such a subject relating to the Habsburg monarchy allow to identify different Reforme and Conter-Reform typologyes, with developments and timelines so different during this complex historic area and dominated by many local particularities, that influenced the Habsburgs political and religious attitudes and decisions. Regions like Austrian hereditary countries, Hungary and Bohemia represent historical and geographical sequences where the Reform progress reconstitution, undefeated in the first half-century, parallels the Habsburg efforts to strengthen control and save the Church. All these are challenges, but also the argument that a singular reconstruction effort through a history such as the Habsburg Monarchy, in a century as the sixteenth century is almost an impossible effort. Besides, a scientist dedicated to this area of research must have access to an impressive archival material, written in over 10 languages and spread in the Central European archives funds, we add the fact that it's very hard to critical assume the historiography written on this topic more than a century. When discouragement comes from the vastness of the documentation field, the challenge is that this history offers itself alive and full of surprises and rewards your efforts by the human and historical world that it opens up and by the surprise finding people genuinely motivated by their faith, but are willing to seek a common path of dialogue and coexistence, in an atmosphere of peace and moderation.

There is still a question mark for anyone who deals with the history of monarchy, on the fact that it speaks more about her sunset and too little about the assembly moments. In this horizon of the monarchy beginnings can glimpse the main features of the Habsburgs, but also the road which these sovereigns, animated by sincere religious and political ideals, will follow through their history. Also in this research approach I tried to capture the historical context in which the monarchy was formed, the surprise through it was built, the sovereigns difficulties they had organizing the important Central European heritage as a centralized monarchy, but also major religious tensions that will have to manage.

It should be said that this complex history of the Habsburg Monarchy it's not been joining the researchers around common solutions, about deep understanding about the state from of which they have been embodied in history, and one of the purposes of this research is to answer, why historians have to explain themselves in front of such an historical space and of sovereign as the Habsburgs. All these explanations lead to one answer that the Habsburgs were a paradox in history, because they were at the same time kings and emperors, they led practically a monarchy, in witch the authority was not all over theirs, that they were good Catholics, but also open to a moderate approach to faith.

Therefore, during this research we seek to see the history background where the Habsburg monarchy was born, but also to find the answer to the question why the reform has been successful in almost all Central European space? If reform was a absolute novelty or other spiritual and intellectual energies have prepared the success? What were the energies by which the Catholicism was revived? How far went the Habsburgs in their faith? Who was the champion of religious scenes of the sixteenth century? If theological dialogue and moderation theology was an alternative to Reformation and Counter-Reformation? How the Habsburgs defined their own political theology? All these are issues that the research aims to follow and to find an answer, convinced that history never has a final answer. As a novelty that I wish to emphasize is the desire to try to reconstruct the religious profile of the Habsburgs, which was their relationship with the Church, reform solutions they proposed, and which was their theological vision whereby they will restore the unity of the Church, not only between Catholics and Protestants, but also between Catholics and Orthodox. All these I pursued in the last chapter of this study, convinced that can not ever provide a complete and final response and will be a challenge to other historians to approach the religious aspect of the Habsburgs, in a new interpretation offered by the modern concept of political theology.

#### **Chapter I: Introduction**

- I.1. Reference material
- I.2. Current status of research and new historiographical trends
- I.3. A terminological problem

Past decades historiography tried to overcome the confessional difficulties and rigidities which have dominated the approaches of Reformation and Counter-Reformation, in witch the historical interpretations were related to justify their religious beliefs and adherence. Without claiming complete factual reconstruction of a history, thestudy of Reformation and Counter-Reformation could provide the opportunity for new readings and interpretations of sources, with the focus on local features, as parts of a single major European phenomenon.

From the very beginning it must be said that an investigation of sources that reconstructs the history of Habsburg space can not be made without the certain linguistic resources and intellectual availabilities, for which the historians dedicated to such a

discouraging issue are more few, in terms of skills and intellectual effort, and challenging at the same time from the perspective of historic and human researched area, but also from the the results part.

Approach such a issue requires consultation and browsing a huge archival material, written in over ten languages, spread in the archives funds from Austria, Germany, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Italy, who were part, partially or entirely, from Habsburg monarchy. From this great diversity of genres and languages of the sources, much of the documentary material is stored disparate in Austrian regional archives, Graz and St. Pölten, less in the central archives of Vienna, Österreichische Staatsarchiv and Haus-, Hof- und Staatsarchiv. An important documents fund for the province of Styria, on the classic case of Counter-Reformation dealt by the Habsburg sovereigns, is found in Graz regional archives. In Styria archive are some documents funds related to the religious history of the sixteenth century, divided by type: monasteries and settlements, the bishops. The biggest fund is related to religious issues in the sixteenth century, grouped in over 200 cases.

The reflections on the historiography concerning the Reformation and Counter-Reformation in their first century of coexistence or the evolution of this religious phenomenon circumscribed to an historical and political context can be considered a challenge, but an intellectual effort often arid. More, the right and critical choice of historiographical major works can be a challenge as tough as that of handling the subject itself, as the diversity of information sources, and especially by the topic vastness under which the subject was approached, as the positivist historiography, as well that of today. Therefore it is necessary, in the first place, for the researcher and the historian to operate as a chronological selection, but qualitative as well of the main historiographical works devoted to thesubject, which must critical assume.

The historian Reinhart Koselleck, the exponent of the new German historiography grouped around the Bilefeld's school, said that history is more than what concepts can understand or express, just as the concepts forward more than their strict historical functionality. Starting from this statement, we can say that any historiographical approach must, necessarily, be preceded by a survey of concepts that define the period or phenomenon studied and their semantics evolution, as a minimum of assuming and knowing the subject history.

If we look at the past decades historiography on studying religious phenomena that have dominated the Reformation century we see that has reached the cultivation of a truly "battle of definitions", an artificial thing for historians whose views continues to be divided and can not expect a agreement on the terminology used. Regardless of the terms that historians prefer in their studies they feel the need to explain, reality that points out that the outcome of such an approach is not so sure. Are these alive historiographical debates the confirmation that we face a problem not cleared up yet? Therefore, the analysis of the main historiographical opinions can explain somehow the understanding of this period, provides to historian the arguments to prefer one or other definitions.

#### **Chapter II: Historical paradox of the Habsburgs**

- II.1. Habsburg Empire or Habsburg Monarchy?
- II.2. Family and Dynasty in front of the State
- II.3. Habsburgs and the German world. A problematic relationship
- II. 4. Monarchy and the two threats of the sixteenth century

In the context of Europe political geography of the late Middle Ages, no other state is more difficult to define than the Habsburg monarchy. The monarchy image in the

sixteenth century is less one of a pre-modern state, but rather that of a conglomerate state, built on the background of dynastic or territorial arrangements specific to medieval political thought. All these customise further the image of the monarchy related to other European countries, placing the Habsburgs in the position of an interesting historic and political paradox, that of a universal empire without a strong political unity and of some sovereign lacking of unquestionable authority.

Added to this is the fact that the historians judgments and evaluation on the political and historical fate of the monarchy are on one hand tributary to the profound anachronism of its historical sunset, while on the other uncritically glorifies, but unilateral condemns an historical route that no other state has had in European history. These historical facts have also fueled nostalgies, especially between the wars and the post-communist period, in which the Habsburg monarchy was seen as a "true cradle of nations" and like the experiment of a successeful cosmopolite culture that could be reactivated as the ideal model for a political and economic transnational cooperation between the states built on the ruins of the Habsburg Empire in Central Europe.

Therefore, for the historian engaged in the study of this period and the state form that the Habsburgs have embodied in history can be a real challenge choosing the correct term that defines the political form and state led by the Habsburgs.

For most researchers, the terms used don't get a simplifying agreement, which requires, necessarily, a short comparative approach of major labels and names that Habsburgs received throughout their history: Habsburg Empire, Habsburg Monarchy, Danube Monarchy, Austrian and Austro-Hungarian Empire, Austria and the House of Austria. From the beginning it must be said that not all these notions have a precise historical legitimacy, some of them aren't political and historical concepts and are tardive and can be applied only during a certain period of Habsburg's history. In this category falls perhaps the most frequently used term, that of Habsburg Empire, although requires some historical and methodological explanations. Others are circumstantial and define the Habsburg state in relation to political developments on the European scene during the late modernity, as that of Austrian Empire or Danube Monarchy.

#### Chapter III: Reformation in the Habsburg world

- III. 1. Humanist prelude and the German world expectations
- III. 2. Reform in the Habsburg hereditary provinces
- III.3. Reform in Upper and Lower Austria- a dispute between sovereign and princes
- III.4. University concerns in the Reform
- III.5. Printed book, the great fear of the Habsburgs
- III.6. Tirol and the peasant's sympathy for Anabaptists
- III.7. Habsburgs and border Reform: Styria, Carinthia, Carniola

As a phenomenon that marks the birth of the modern spirit in Europe, the protestant Reform is not only the exclusive product of the XVI century in the history of the Church, but it was, naturally, conditioned by a long history, by all the Christian unfulfilled spiritual needs, being prefaced by Humanism, but also by the noisy movements of the Pre reform, and by Hussite Crisis. The Reform has not been a phenomenon that arouse out of the blue, but she appeared on unprepared ground and has benefited from the cultural and spiritual upheavals of Renaissance and Humanism, which have emphasized the need for change within religious and intellectual life. The desire for spiritual renewal, critical spirit had moved the old edifice of the Church, which monopolized for centuries the whole spiritual and knowledge arsenal. The appearance of another society type, secularization of culture,

as a product of the Renaissance and Humanism, were the premises of some spiritual claims, intended to relocate the entire edifice of medieval mental world.

But this horizon of expectation made that the movement initiated by Luther as a spontaneous protest to conquer almost immediately the hearts and consciences of men from all walks. The Reform spread rapidly in all Habsburgs hereditary countries, but and beyond, in the new possessions, finding echo as in the souls of ordinary people, but also among local elites, religious or secular. Not in all hereditary countries of the Habsburg monarchy the Protestantism had the same fate, but, in almost the entire Austrian space, the Reform experienced a remarkable success in the first decades. The Reform entered the Habsburg hereditary crown countries since the first decade, by influences coming from neighboring Germany and Switzerland.

The Reformation meant in the first place a change of theological language, articulated in Scripture, that could be read in vernacular language and that was received with enthusiasm by the people whose spiritual expectations were little rewarded by scholastic theology. This explains the impressive success of Lutheran books and pamphlets, which transformed the Reform into a veritable denomination of the book. In support of this new proclamation of the Reformation came the emergence and development of printing, which ensured the availability of the Bible, which led to its relocation, in the edifice of faith as infallible authority in matters of theology and life.

Although they are not quite as visible in the geography of the Habsburg monarchy in the sixteenth century the border provinces of Styria (Steiermark), Carinthia (Kärnten) and Carniola (Krain, Krajina) are not absent from the map of areas where the Reform has entered since its first dawn. Located in a border area, at the junction of German, Italian and Croatian world, these provinces carried the mark of open societies where cultural exchanges have influenced her cultural and political profile. One of the particularities of these border provinces was also the vulnerability to military threats, especially Ottoman, which increased the feeling of uncertainty, but also their strategic importance for the monarchy. When the Ottoman threat was looming increasingly at the borders of Habsburg monarchy, these border provinces were the first affected by the Turkish raids.

**Chapter IV:** Habsburgs and the Apostolic Kingdom of Hungary

- IV.1. The prehistory relations between the Habsburgs and Hungarian
- IV.2. Habsburgs, Hungarian and Ottomans in search for peace
- IV.3. Humanist Hungary and the decline of the Catholicism
- IV.4. The Old Apostolic Kingdom and the glorious Reform
- IV.5. Queen Mary and the Hungarian Reform

As one of the oldest European monarchies, Hungary had a rich history before entering in the political orbit of Habsburg monarchy. The Apostolic Kingdom of St. Stephen had a remarkable political development, consolidating at the end of the fifteenth century as a Renaissance monarchy, with a special cultural and economic dimension, comparable to that of England and France. In the Middle Ages, Hungarian kingdom was structured as an outstanding regional power, assuming the role to coagulate around their strength core several countries and medieval nations from Central and Eastern Europe. All these brilliant historical realities are in stark contrast with the situation of XVI century, when postcorvinian Hungary lived quickly its sunset, moving towards a tragic outcome.

English historian Robert Evans defined the established relations, from the sixteenth century, between the political elite in Hungary and the Habsburg dynasty, by the highly suggestive expression "limited rejection". These complicated relationships have oscillated over the next centuries between claimed independence from the medieval privileges old

shelter and the concessions imposed by the new political power, decisively influencing political and religious attitude of the Habsburgs in the last space of the St. Stephen crown.

The collapse of medieval Hungary in 1526 led to the outbreak of an osmano-Habsburg rivalry for the territories legacy of former Apostolic kingdom. For several years, there was a political competition between Ferdinand of Habsburg and John Zapolya for inherit the throne of Hungary. Transylvania was not excluded from this political rivalry and it became from this moment a bone of contention almost permanent in the disputes between the Habsburgs and Ottomans.

In the years following the final collapse of Buda (1541), Transylvania crown was disputed, by turn, by the successor of John Zápolya, John Sigismund protected by his mother, queen Isabella, daughter of Polish king Sigismund I August and by the ambitious monarch Ferdinand of Habsburg, became, from 1556 the heir of the crown of Charles V.

Certainly, the most important thing that the XVI century Hungary brought was its rich humanistic heritage, whose apogee was reached during the reign of King Mathia Corvin(1458-1490), fact noticed by many contemporary. This fact is relevant not only for the correct understanding of the spiritual and intellectual ambience that dominates the world of the old apostolic kingdom, on the eve of the Reformation, but rather for revealing the deep status quo where the old Catholic faith was and whose deeply unhappy fate was bound to the Hungarian humanism.

Though located at the border of Protestant world, Hungary was close to the countries in which the Reform appeared, as through its political ties developed in time, but especially by the spiritual and cultural ones, mainly activated during European humanism. The Reform has heavily penetrated in the Central Eastern Europe area and made many countries of this political and geographical area to become, towards the end of XVI century, preponderantly Protestant. This quick attachment to the Reformation ideas can be explained on one hand, through the world's expectations in front of an obvious religious renaissance, while on the other, through the favorable religious and political circumstances, based especially on the Ottoman danger. Are added to these that Hungary carried, in the sixteenth century, mark of a divided and decentralized society, which made the Protestant-style ideas to flow smoothly, but also for the dissidents to find in their new religious ideas a safe refuge.

The presence of Queen Mary, sister of King Ferdinand I and the wife of deceased King Ladislaus of Hungary, in an often arid Reform landscape announces that beyond the solutions of some or others of the main actors of the religious scene, irene spirit, the humanist moderation and opened up to dialogue will pave the way for a new religious horizon. So Mary heralds Maximilian II and opens the perspectives on Vienna at the end of century, that begins to be dominated by an authentic irene spirit.

# **Chapter V: Habsburgs and the Holy Wenceslaus Crown**

- V.1. Reformation in Bohemia
- V.1.1. Bohemia, a country favorable for religious diversity
- V.1.2. From dualism to religious pluralism
- V.1.3. Ferdinand I's religious policy, between the theology of moderation and freedom of belief
- V. 1. 4. Confessio Bohemica and the road to religious consensus
- V. 2. Jesuits and Catholic revival in Bohemia
- V. 3. The casual balance of the Sixteenth Century

The positioning of Bohemia at the boundaries of the Holy Roman German Empire and Polish and Hungarian kingdoms represented an historical premise that influenced

decisively its political and religious developmen, over the centuries. This neighborhood has made the kingdom of Bohemia exposed to pressures and influences of all kinds coming from the German world, oscillating between a fragile independence which tried hard to preserve it in relation to the Holy Empire, as an hereditary monarchy, and between a vassalage that Czech sovereigns have negotiated with German kings in time. Beyond these neighborhoods, Bohemia was not a border region, but it was fully integrated into the European world.

With an highly complex historic and religious past, at which was added the Hussite Crisis, which imposed a religious dualism, the territory of Bohemia Kingdom was defined in the sixteen and seventeen century as a veritable bastion of Protestantism and the center of the Slavic inspiration Lutheranism. The Reformation in Bohemia is not just a variation of the main Protestant inspiration current, but was an important stage in the religious and social evolution of the country, built on the principles of religious plurality.

In Bohemia, the Protestantism, both the Lutheran as well as Anabaptism, entered from the earliest Reformation dawn, where they developed a large missionary action and gained a considerable number of followers. The Lutheran influences have split the utraquist Church, favouring in the same time the geranization of the elites, especially in Moravia and Silesia. The remarkable success of Luther's ideas in the souls and consciences of the Czechs clerics and believers is explained by the fact that, many of the German reformer's ideas were related to those of Jan Hus, condemned by the Council of Konstanz (1416) and which were familiar to Bhoemia from a long time.

The Unity Church of Brethren has become the Reformation's first free Church, abandoning the principle of parochial organizing and adopting a model more related to the Anabaptism of the congregations free from followers. This explains in a certain measure the fears that local authorities and the Habsburg sovereingn had towards this Church, who take it alike the Anabaptist dissidences and which they never have recognized.

The policy pursued by the Habsburgs to conquer Bohemian religious scene was the policy of small steps and small victories. First, the emperor has extended his control over the Utraquist Church, directly appointing the Consistory. In this context, the neo-utraquists fought to obtain from the Habsburg sovereign the recognition of their exclusive rights to organize themselves, using more tricks.

Counter-Reformation aimed the creation of a new academic atmosphere in the spirit of the Tridentine reform, in which will be trained the new Catholic intellectual elite.

Another remarkable event, for the institutional revival of the the Catholic Church was the restoration of Prague Archdiocese(1572) and appointing a reform-minded bishop in the person of Antonín Brus z Mohelnice and the apostolic nunciature in 1581, which will increase even more the dynamic of the Catholic camp. In Moravia the bishop of Olomouc encouraged the settlement of the Society of Jesus since 1566. The colleges and universities implantation led to the formation of Catholic intellectual elite in the spirit proposed by the Council of Trident. The University of Olomouc became, since 1578, the pontifical seminary headquarters *Colegium Nordicum*, of the missionaries training for Scandinavia, Prussia and the Baltic countries, but also for the Orthodox Christianity from Ukraine and Russia.

Rudolf II has published on 9 July 1609 a chart of rights and privileges, *Majestát* (Letter of Majesty, *Majestätsbrief*), which guarantee religious freedom for the Catholics as well as for the three Protestant states (nobles, knights and city inhabitants). It prohibited to any senior to impose their personal confession to his vassals, practically canceling the principle of Augsburg Peace from 1555. It was also established by this document that the following confessional disputes will be solved through negotiations. The Letter of Majesty, no matter how short was the duration of its implementatio, has found a special place in the

collective imaginary of the Czech nation, because it's a milestone in the history of religious tolerance in Europe.

The failure of moderate Conter-Reformation from the sixteenth century opened the radical solution era which attempted to resolve religious issues, and this was the war. The negotiations table, compromises, Interims, all had becomed outdated notions, which will not bring the settlement of religious disputes. The idea of temporary solutions will be abandoned entirely in favor of some realities settled by force of arms. After the Thirty Years War and by signing the Treaty of Westphalia in 1648 will confirm the entire European confessional configuration, which we have today.

# Chapter VI: Peace from Augsburg and the beginnings of the Counter-Reformation

- VI.1. The long road to the Reform peace
- VI.2. A religious peace or a religious truce?
- VI.3. The idea of religious tolerance and national denomination
- VI.4. Habsburg Monarchy during the second half of XVI century among protestant peace and Counter-Reformation
  - VI.4.1. The belated victory of the Austrian Counter-Reformation
  - VI.4.2. The highlight of the Counter-Reformation. Styrian file
  - VI.4.3. Hungarian Catholicism between lost cause and Counter-Reformation
  - VI.4.4. Archbishop Miklós Oláh and Tridentine reforms
  - VI.4.5. The fragile fight for faith of the Hungarian Catholic hierarchy
  - VI.4.6. The end of the Hungarian Sixteenth Century Counter-Reformation

The period between 1518-1525 marked a living spread of the Lutheranism across Central and Northern Europe, and University of Wittenberg, where all Luther's colleagues have accepted his theological position became the main center of irradiation of the the new evangelical doctrine. "The Lutheran revelation" answered perfectly to the spiritual mood that was in Germany, giving an expression to the patriotism but also to the German world aversion towards Latin Italian civilization.

The conflict's end between Protestants and Catholics came in 1555 when, at Diet of Augsburg, called on 25 September, has proposed a religious armistice formula, through the Catholicism and Lutheranism could live together. Peace camed after the agreement between Ferdinand I and the states, as a solution to the religious crisis that it deepened, but also as an update to the empire's eternal peace from 1495 (Ewiger Landfrieden), proclaimed by Maximilian I of Habsburg.

The Treaty of 1555 was accompanied by a secret agreement, negotiated between Ferdinand I and the states, known as *Declaratio Ferdinandei*, which guaranteed to lutheran sovereigns and cities the right to continue the Reform, except the states placed under the authority of the Episcopal Church, which will remain Catholic. This amendment introduced with the approval of Protestant states, ensured the survival of the Catholic communities, by the fact that the properties belonging to the Catholic Church (*reservatum ecclesiasticum*) had their integrity guaranteed, leaving opened the possibility of reconversion to the old faith

A cynic might say that the Peace of Augsburg only delayed the violent solving of the confessional conflict, until the next century and, so, perpetuated German fragmentation, despite the fact that the surrounding powers have that asserted ever more as young and strong monarchies. Then, an idealist might say that at Augsburg had foressen a horizon in which the religious and civil medieval authority will leave the site in politics for an rational secularism, that will lead to a broader tolerance of people's disparate beliefs. And finally, a realist might say that Augsburg moment was a short-term armistice, useful, in the hard

conflict between two exhausted religious sides, which could be achieved at the intersection between religious imagination and tough daily religious realities.

No one can deny that the presence of this constitutional principle has a great impact on the new religious Europe and it let to the development of some unique tolerance formes across the Europe of religious wars, as it was for Netherlands and Transylvania.

The coexistence al of a confessional plurality, in which every religion lived protected by religious and legal privileges, carefully watching the balance of territorial status qou's and numerical domination, was one of the main features of the political constitution of the Holy Empire. Despite all interconfessional tensions, tending to increase, the religious situation of the Empire led to the preservation of a relative balance and peace, without major political events. In the coexistence between Catholics and Protestants became an everyday experience, the efforts and attempts of each party to seek advantages to other's detriment.

In the past half century it abonds with small peace concluded in different parts of the Habsburg Monarchy, attempting to calm the social and religious atmosphere, but also to delay even more the confrontation between the two religious bloks, becomed more active and powerful. If the first Habsburg rulers have shown enough sympathy to the ideals for moderate reform, that they saw applied in the Church, with the coming of the new generation of leaders, mostly educated by the Jesuits, the entire vision will change, leading to an outcome. For all that, the balance of sixteenth century will not be final, but still a compromise, except some Habsburg provinces, where things were cut by force, as in Styria case.

But the history of this half century is one with ups and downs, in which the small Protestant victories will be followed by Catholic replies, but in which both Austrian countries of the Habsburg Monarchy and in Hungary things have changed.

The small revival in the time of the Catholic Archbishop Miklós Oláh brought the the Jesuits in Hungary who have managed to establish several schools, such as in Trnava (Nagyszombat), which operated between 1561 and 1567, in Turóc (1586) and, by the century's end in Vagsellye. Even though at that time Transylvania wasn't incorporated into the Habsburg monarchy, is worth mentioning, that same Jesuits that have came in Hungary, arrived in Transylvania, whwre, in 1571, founded the Jesuit college from Cluj, college at which learned the future Cardinal Péter Pázmány.

The beginning of the seventeenth century marked a revival of the Catholic Counter-Reformation, which will state more powerful to the Hungarian religious scene, from the second half century. This period wasn't devoid by trials of conciliation, but also by some peace negotiations, that would relocate the relations between confessions.

# Chapter VII: Habsburg political theology

VII.1. Habsburgs and the Church

VII.2. Habsburgs and the Tridentine theology

VII.2.1 Charles V and the way to the Council of Trent

VII.3. Habsburgs and the moderation theology

VII.4. Habsburgs and Pietas austriaca

Even from the so far exposure of the paper work can be drawn wthat was the vision of these rulers of the Church, and how they translated in polical terms their religious ideas, is important to see, even drafted, which were the main lines that defined the broad concept of Habsburgs political theology. Although this new concept, that defines how the theological discourse produce social and political effects, may seem inappropriate being

attached to the Habsburgs, yet its use is legitimized by the fact that their faith and religious beliefs had produced, in the studied epoch, various political effects. Elements related not only to the Habsburgs faith and that are the investigation subject through the concept of political theology are the relation with the Church, the Reform, communion under both species and the Conciliarism. All their beliefs, if it remained in the private sphere of faith were just some theology rules, but for the fact that were transposed in actions, have becomed elements that define a clear political theology. Hence the difficulty, since where is theology and where politics begins, but for present time the two spheres of the human universe are conditionating and intermissing each other.

In this world it's hard to talk about originality at least regarding the political theology particular to an historical period of transition from medieval to modern world. For example in order to understand the kind of sovereign and the nature of political power that the Habsburgs have assumed, requires an analysis of key features that define the christian monarch and the Empire in early modern period. For the Habsburgs, according to the historical circumstances, but also the virtues and family traditions that they have assumed, we can speak of political theology, from which the sovereigns have built their own image and historical mythology. Without being entirely original, the Habsburgs have borrowed many cultural and political models that define the Christian monarch, and start since the early Church era.

In relation with the Church, The Habsburgs pursued on one hand to moderate the Church's actions and its political claims restricting their interference in leading, well as financial privileges. Not because the lack of respect, but because their great state-building project had in Church a major obstacle, at least in the sixteenth century. On the other hand, they were firmly committed to defend the Catholic Church before the destructive effects of Lutheranism, aware of the importance that this institution has for their image of faith defenders. Faced with the call to defend the unity and orthodoxy of faith that the Habsburgs declared it strongly, but especially as reply to the religious challenges, Sovereign's attitudes varied from firmness and sustained action against heretics, to compromise, depending on the moment historical circumstances.

If in the political attitude, the state reason was always first, regarding the theological beliefs, the Habsburgs were not always situated on the sharp line of Church dogmas, and the influences they received from many people, as Lutheran provenance, as well as humanist provenance, made them to be moderate in their theology. Towards the Church, the Habsburgs had another responsibility namely the reform, that they insistently demanded and for which they made many compromises with the Protestants, assuming the arbitrator role between the two parties involved in the religious conflict. But the big challenge for them was the transposition into reality of Habsburg's great reform dream which was the Council. Their intention was sincere, was the Church's response an appropriate one?

If finally the Trident moment proved a success for the Church and a disappointment for the Habsburgs, however the road to council was a challenge as big as the Council itself. The searches, the pressures, the Habsburg's sovereign irritations which accompanied the council's preceding moments have intensified the dissensions between the Pope and the Emperor.

Ferdinand prepared for the Council agenda a second reformative memorandum completed in 1563. This second Libellus, contained in addition to the two main points discussed a year ago, the communion and the celibacy and other difficult issues, how were the changing of fastening sistem, the introduction of vernacular language in Church's worship, as well as maintaining the polyphonic vocal music in the Church. Ferdinand's

small victory was that in April 1564, Pope Pius IV gave him the dispens for the introduction of the communion under both species in Habsburg monarchy.

Even if many of Ferdinand's proposals have not been taken into consideration, though some reforms approved by Trident Council which have improved the moral and intellectual image of the Church, due to sovereign's determination and his lifelong beliefs of which has not abdicated in any case. Even if there were voices between the Council's participants, who were against the communion under both species, though all the present hierarchs praised the determination and strong convictions of Ferdinand I, but also the generous support that has given to Jesuits mission in Austria.

The Counter-Reformation has brought a different approach to the religious and political message which the Habsburgs have placed into a true baroque decor, building their own pantheon and religious piety. Not only ideological, but also for reasons related to Counter-Reformation policy, the Habsburgs managed through this pietas austriaca to become models of piety and faith. That's why in all this religious context, the Habsburg ruler was the first kneeling in an attitude of Eucharist veneration, the first that opened a liturgical procession in the city and the first offering himself as a model of humility and christian service. The stake was doubled, besides the religious one, which proposed an articulated faith after tridentine model, was the political one, because very ters expressed, the Habsburgs Catholicism meant loyalty. Agreed that there were other Catholic countries in Europe, but in none of them the religious piety was so a used tool in political legitimacy, in terms of a truly imperial ideology, as it was in Austria and Spain.

Actually, the sixteenth century only prepared the elements that will contribute in the next century to the full affirmation of Pietas Austriaca, whose main architect was the emperor Ferdinand II.

The Eucharist and its dedicated feast are Church's health signs and the victory mark of the reforming Habsburgs Catholicism before the Protestantism. One may find that, the Eucharistic worship and the sacrament itself played a major role in Habsburgs thinking, from the nature of the reforms they have proposed to the Pope and to Trent Council, who had an obvious Eucharistic dimension. Around the Eucharist was built the entire moderate theology of the Habsburgs, about the extending of the communion right from the chalice for laity to, like a Pietas Austriaca extension on the Protestants which they hoped to regain for Catholicism.

If the Eucharist was the Habsburgs victory weapon and the key of their piety, she was also the solution to solve the religious schism, this underlines again a deep attachment of these sovereign, to the fate of the Church with which were identified, at least the two first centuries of Reformation.

#### CONCLUSIONS

The background of this century's history was prepared by Humanism and Renaissance, that created the intellectual environment favorable to new ideas, including in religious sphere, but they built also a veritable paneuropean dialogue platform, where following ideas of the Reform have got abroaud without any barrier, between the intellectual elites, but also to the ordinary people. On this line, may seem paradoxical, but the Humanism marked the first drama of Catholic Christianity, that it has created not only one type of culture, that show abroad their laic roots, but also institutional weakened the Church, leaving it discovered in front of Reformation theological argument.

Looking retrospectively, to the religious history of the sixteenth century in the Habsburg monarchy, we can say that it was the century of missed opportunities and

smiddle olutions, but not that of final resolution. Neither political, but not religious eighter the sixteenth century did not bring final resolution of the situation, the interims or temporary agreements are preferred. In managing the delicate religious issues, the Habsburgs preferred to act conjunctural, articulating their actions depending on political or social circumstances, that don't favored them, at least in the first half-century.

The Counter-Reformation was differentiated from territory to territory depending on the freedom of action that the sovereign had, as well as community had. Thus the Habsburgs sovereigns had to assume with ability the role of arbitrator in the confessional disputes to save the social peace, assuming the main pawn role in the fight against the Protestantism.

Even if the Habsburgs were firmly committed to restrict the territorial and political effects of the Reformation they didn't from an inquisitorial height, but with a carefulnes related more to diplomacy than to theology, finding that certain concessions in dogma can reunite the Church, that they hoped so much. The Habsburg ruler did not dare to offend the Protestant, imposing the principles of Augsburg peace in his territories, hoping that a dialogue and a set of concessions can solve the problem better. Therefore, may seem a bit ventured, but we can say, as a conclusion regarding the theological attitude of the Habsburgs against lutherans, that it's not a very catholic one, but clearly remains dependent to theology and to calixtine liturgical practice, who made a veritable career in epoch. Not accidentally the negotiations from Prague in 1526 with the moderate utraquists, Interim of Augsburg in 1552, but also the repeated requests made by Ferdinand to the Pope see in believers communion under both species the minimal theological concession that may build an unity dialogue. The solution of such compromise was to adopt a true "via media", between Rome and the Protestant Reformation that would have led to a kind of Central European Anglicanism.

Since nobody was willing to make concessions, the war proved once again that is not a solution, but contributory to the drawing the Europe's religious boundaries, in the lines are today. The religious clashes of the seventeenth century had "left the religious map of Europe cast in bronze", after the expression of historian Pierre Chaunu. From that moment, the confessions pulled back inside, preoccupying to establish their own doctrines and positions in the new religious European constellation, attempting, but unable to forget the confrontation from which no one came out victorious.

#### REFERENCE

#### A) Sources

#### 1) Archives:

Haus-, Hof- und Staatsarchive, Wien, Fond Hungarica, Akten, betreffend die Protestanten in Ungarn (1564-1812), fasc. 432 a, b, c. (HHStA).

Idem, Fond Allgemeine Urkundenreihe, 1521.

Idem, Fond Hungarica, Specialia ecclesiastica, fasc. 274, a, c, g.

Idem, Fond Hungarica, Specialia, Transylvanica separata, 1761-1825, fasc. 365, B. Idem, Fond Wien, Klosterkarten, 121, Wien, Jesuiten.

Idem, Fond Reichskanzlei, Religionsakten, 5, 25, 29.

Steiermärchischen Landesarchiv, Graz, Fond Meiller-Akten, XIX, a, b, c, d, e.

#### 2) Edited soruces:

Akten und Korrepondenz zur Geschichte der Gegenreformation in Innerösterreich unter Erherzog Karl II. (1578-1590) gesamelt und herausgegeben von J. Loserth, în FRA, Osterreichische Geschichts Quellen, II/50, II/58-60, Wien 1898.

Akten und Korrepondenzen zur Geschichte der Gegenreformation in Innerösterreich unter Erherzog Ferdinand II, p. I (1590-1600), p. II (1600-1637), gesamelt und herausgegeben von J. Loserth, în FRA, Osterreichische Geschichts Quellen, vol. 58, vol. 60, Wien 1906, 1907.

Balan, Petrus (ed.), *Monumenta Reformationis Lutheranae ex tabularis secretioribus S. Sedis (1521-1525)*, S. Sedis Apostolicae Typographi, Ratisbonae, 1884.

Bessenyei, József (ed.) *Lettere di principi. Litterae principum ad papam (1518–1578)*, *Fejedelmi levelek a pápának (1518–1578)*, Roma–Budapest, 2002.

Hoke, Rudolf şi Reiter, Ilse (eds.), *Quellensammlung zur österreichischen und deutschen Rechtsgeschichte*, Böhlau Verlag, Wien, Köln, Weimar, 1993.

Lanz, Karl, Correspondnez des Kaisers Karl V aus dem königlichen archiv und de Bibliotheque de Borgone zu Brüssel, 3 vol. F.A. Brockhaus, Leipzig, 1844-1846.

Marczali, Henrik, (ed.), *Enchiridion fontium historiae Hungarorum*, Athenaeum, Budapest 1901.

Miola, Robert S., *Early Modern Catholicism an Anthology of Primary Sources*, Oxford University Press, 2007.

Monumenta Ecclesiastica tempora innovatae in Hungaria Religionis illustrantia, 5 vol., V. Bunyiatay, R. Rapaics și I. Karácsonyi (ed.), Edidit Sectio Scient. El Litt. Societatis S. Stephani, Budapestini, 1902-1912.

Terzio, Francesco, Austriacae gentis imaginum partes 1-5, Innsbruck, 1569.

#### 2) Special works:

Agnew, Hugh Lecaine, *The Czechs and the Lands of the Bohemian Crown*, Hoover Institution Press, 2004.

Arnold, Benjamin, *Princes and territories in medieval Germany*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.

Bendiscioli, Mario, La Riforma cattolica, Editrice Studium, Roma, 1958.

Benga, Daniel, David Chytraeus (1530-1600) als Erforscher und Wiederentdecker der Ostkirchen. Seine Beziehungen zu orthodoxen Theologen, seine Erforschungen der Ostkirchen und seine ostkirchlichen Kenntnisse, teză de doctorat, Erlangen, 2001.

Bérenger, Jean, *Istoria Imperiului Habsburgilor 1273-1918*, traducere de Nicolae Baltă, Editura Teora, București, 2000.

Bireley, Robert, *The Refashioning of Catholicism, 1450-1700. A reassement of the Counter Reformation*, The Catholic University of America Press, 1999.

Brady Jr., Thomas A., German Histories in the Age of Reformations, 1400-1650, Cambridge University Press, 2009.

Caponetto, Salvatore, *The Protestant Reformation in Sixteenth-Century Italy*, trad. engl. Anne C. Tedeschi şi John Tedeschi, Thomas Jefferson University Press, Kirksville, 1999.

Coreth, Anna, *Pietas Austriaca. Austrian Religious Practices in the Baroque Era*, traducere de William D. Bowman și Ana Maria Leitgeb, Purdue University Press, West Lafayette, Indiana, 2004.

Coxe, William, History of the House of Austria, from the Foundation of Monarchy, by Rudolf of Habsburg to the death of Leopold de second, 1218-1792, vol. 1, Londra, 1847.

Delumeau, Jean, Catholicism between Luther and Voltaire: a new view of the Counter-Reformation, trad. engl. de John Bossy, Burns & Oates, London, 1977.

Delumeau, Jean, *Naissance et affirmation de Réforme*, Presses Universitaires de France, Paris, 1965.

Dickens, A. G., Reformation and society in sixteenth-century Europe, Thames&Hudson, London, 1966.

Dudan, Alessandro, *La monarchia degli Absburgo: origini, grandezza e decadenza*, Vol. I (800-1849), Bontempelli, Roma, 1915.

Evans, Robert, *Felix Austria, L'ascesa della monarchia absburgica: 1550-1700*, traduzione di Alfonso Prandi, Societa editrice il Mulino, Milano, 1981.

Evennett, Henry Outram, *The Spirit of the Counter-Reformation*, Cambridge University Press, 1968.

Heimann, Heinz-Dieter, *Die Habsburger: Dynastie und Kaiserreiche*, Verlag C. H. Beck, München, 2001.

Höbelt, Lothar, Ferdinand III (1608-1657). Friedenskaiser wider Willen, Ares Verlag, Graz 2008.

Hsia, Po-Chia, Ronnie, A Companion to the Reformation World, Blackwell Publishing, 2004.

Hsia, Po-Chia, Ronnie, Social discipline in the Reformation: Central Europe 1550-1750, Routledge, London & New York, 1995.

Hsia, Po-Chia, Ronnie, *The World of Catholic Renewal 1540-1770*, Cambridge University Press, 1998.

Ingrao, Charles W., *State and Society in Early Modern Austria*, West Lafayette, Purdue University Press, 1994.

Ingrao, Charles W., *The Habsburg Monarchy*, 1618-1815, Cambridge University Press, 2003.

Jászi, Oscar, *The Dissolution of the Habsburg Monarchy*, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago Illinois, 1929.

Jenő, Zoványi, *A Magyarországi Protestantismus Története, 1895-IG*, I. kötet, Attraktor, Máriabesnyő Gödölő, 2004.

Kann, Robert A., A history of the Habsburg Empire 1526-1918, Barnes&Nobles, New York, 1992.

Kholer, Alfred, Ferdinand I (1503-1564). Fürst, König und Kaiser, Verlag C.H.Beck, München, 2003, p. 189.

Klueting, Harm, *Das Konfessionelle Zeitalter. Europa zwischen Mittelalter und Moderne*, Primus Verlag, Darmstadt, 2007.

Leeb, Rudofl; Liebmann, Maximilian; Scheibelreiter, Georg; Tropper, Peter G., Geschichte des Christentums in Österreich, Uberreuter, Wien, 2005.

Löserth, Johann, Die Reformation und Gegenreformation in den innerösterreichischen Ländern im XVI. Jahrhundert, Verlag J.C. Cotta Buchhandlung, Stuttgart, 1898.

MacHardy, Karin J., War, Religion and Court Patronage in Habsburg Austria: The Social and Cultural Dimensions of Political Interaction, 1521-1622, Palgrave MacMillan, New York, 2003.

O'Malley, John W., *Trent and all that. Renaming Catholicism in the Early Modern Era*, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, London, Massachusetts, 2000.

Olin, John C., Erasmus, Utopia, and the Jesuits: Essays on the Outreach of Humanism, Fordham University Press, New York, 1994.

Sutter Fichtner, Paula, *The Habsburg Monarchy*, 1490-1848. Attributes of Empire, Palgrave Macmillan, 2003.

Sutter Fichtner, Paula, *Terror and toleration: the Habsburg Empire confronts Islam, 1526–1850*, Cromwell Press, 2008.

Wheatcroft, Andrew, *Habsburgii personificarea unui imperiu*, în românește de Roxana Popescu, Editura Vivaldi, București, 2003.

Wiesner-Hanks, Merry E., *Early Modern Europe*, *1450-1789*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006.

Winkelbauer, Thomas, Ständefreiheit und Fürstenmacht. Länder und Untertanen des Hauses Habsburg im konfessionellen Zeitalter, 2 vol., Österreichische Geschichte 1522-1699, hrsg. von Herwig Wolfram, Überreuter, Wien 2003.

Zöllner, Erich, *Istoria Austriei*, vol. 1, traducere de Adolf Armbruster, Editura Enciclopedică, București, 1997.

#### d) Studies and articles:

Adriányi, Gabriel, "Die Ausbreitung der Reformation in Ungarn", în *UJb*, 5 (1973), pp. 66-75.

Gabriel Adriányi, "Polnische Einflüsse auf Reformation und Gegenreformation in Ungarn", în *UJb* 4 (1972), pp. 61-72.

Baron, Hans, "Imperial Reforms and Habsburgs (1486-1504)", în AHR, 44 (1939), 2, pp. 293-303.

Behrens, Ilrich, "Sozialdisziplinierung" als Konzeption der Frühneuzeitforschung. Genese, Weiterentwicklung und Kritik – Eine Zwischenbilanz", în *Hist. Mi.*, 12 (1999), pp.

Bergin, Joseph, "The Counter-Reformation, Church and its Bishops", în *PP*, 165 (1999), pp. 30-73.

Bucsay, Mihály şi Csepregi, Zoltán, "Das Bekenntnis der Synode zu Erdőd von 1545", în Heiner Faulenbach şi Andreas Mühling (eds.), *Reformierte Bekenntnisschriften*, vol 1/2, Neukirchener Verlag, 2006, pp. 439-447.

Bůžek, Václav, "From Compromise to Rebellion: Religion and Political Power of the Nobility in the First Century of the Habsburgs' Reign in Bohemia And Moravia", în *JEMH*, 8 (2004), 1-2, pp. 31-45.

Daniel, David P., "Ecumenicity or Orthodoxy: The Dilemma of the Protestants in the Lands of the Austrian Habsburgs" în *CH* 49 (1980), 4, pp. 387-400.

Eberhard, Winfried, "Bohemia, Moravia and Austria" în Scribner, Bob; Porter, Roy şi Teich, Mikulàš (eds.), *The Reformation in national context*, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1994, pp. 23-48.

Elkan, Albert, "Entstehung und Entwicklung des Begriffs Gegenreformation", în *HZ*, 112 (1914), pp. 473-493.

Gratzer, Franz, "Kryptoprotestantismus in Oberösterreich. Ein Geschichtlichter Überblick", în *Jahrbuch des OÖ. Musealvereines Gesellschaft für Landeskunde*, Linz 1986, pp. 17-69.

Head, Randolph C., "Catholics and Protestants in Graubünden: Confessional Discipline and Confessional Identities without an Early Modern State?", în *GH*, 17 (1999), 3, pp.

Heiß, Gernot, "Reformation und Gegenreformation (1519-1618). Probleme unde ihre Quellen" în Erich Zöllner (ed.), *Die Quellen der Geschichte Österreichs*, Österreichischer Bundesverlag, Wien, 1982, pp. 114-133.

Kowalska, Eva, "Der Habsburgische Staat und die Protestantischen Kirchen vom 16. bis zum 18. Jahrhundert", în *AUA*, Series Historica, 7 (2003), pp. 25-34.

Leb, Ioan-Vasile, "Confession et liberté en Transylvanie du XVI- siècle", în volumul *Die Rumänische Orthodoxe Chirche im Wandel der Zeiten*, Presa Universitară Clujeană, Cluj-Napoca, 1998, pp. 26-40.

Link, Christoph, "Der Protestantismus in Österreich", în *Gutachten und Studien*, 5 (2007), pp. 1-38.

Odložilík, Otakar, "Bohemian Protestants and the Calvinist Churches" în CH 8 (1939), 4, pp. 342-355.

Őry, Miklós, "Kardinal Pázmány und die kirchliche Erneuerung in Ungarn", în *UJb* 5 (1973), pp. 76-96.

Packull, Werner O., "The Beginning of Anabaptism in Southern Tyrol", *SCJ*, 22 (1991), 4, pp. 717-726.

Palmitessa, James R., "The Reformation in Bohemia and Poland", în R. Po-Chia Hsia (ed.), *A Companion to the Reformation World*, pp. 185-205.

Schmidt, Heinrich Richard, "Sozialdisziplinierung? Ein Plädoyer für das Ende des Etatismus in der Konfessionalisierungsforschung", în HZ, 265 (1997), pp. 639-682.

Sutter Fichtner, Paula, "Of Christian Virtue and a Practicing Prince: Emperor Ferdinand I and His Son Maximilian", în *CHR*, 61 (1975), 3, pp. 409-416.

Sutter Fichtner, Paula, "The Disobedience of the Obedient: Ferdinand I and the Papacy 1555-1564", în *SCJ*, 11 (1980), 2, pp. 25-34.

Zinnhobler, Rudolf, "Oberösterreich zwischen Reformation (1521), und Revolution (1848) - Erträge Kirchengeschichtlicher Forschung Seit 1932", în *Das neue Bild von Oberösterreich. Forschungen zur Landeskunde von Oberösterreich 1930-1980*, Linz, 1983.